I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. The Circuit Court of Mingo County, West Virginia (the "Circuit Court") erred in 

concluding that arbitration agreements are viewed differently within the employment context 

compared to the commercial context. 

2. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that the Agreement creates an employment 

contract. 

3. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that the Agreement is not supported by 

consideration. 

4. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that Varney's claim for violation ofW. Va. 

Code § 23-4-2 (the "Deliberate Intent Statute") falls outside the scope of the Agreement. 

5. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that Varney's claim for violation of the 

West Virginia Human Rights Act, W. Va. Code § 5-11-1, et seq. (the "Human Rights Act") falls 

outside the scope of the Agreement. 

6. The Circuit Court erred In concluding that the Agreement is substantively 

unconscionable. 

7. The Circuit Court erred In concluding that the Agreement IS procedurally 

unconscionable. 
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II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


A. Factual Background 

Respondent Michael R. Varney ("Varney") began working for Hampden Coal Company, 

LLC in 2000. See APP 0002. In August 2014, Petitioner Hampden Coal, LLC ("Hampden"), a 

subsidiary of Blackhawk Mining, LLC ("Blackhawk"), purchased assets, including mines, from 

Varney's then employer. See APP 0002. Varney then applied for and was hired for a position 

with Hampden. See APP 0002; APP 0026-27. 

As a prerequisite to and a condition of his new employment with Hampden, Varney 

signed the Agreement. APP 0027. The Agreement, which is only one and one-half (1 Yl) pages 

long, contains a collection of bilateral promises by and between Hampden and Varney whereby 

they agree to submit any disputes between them to arbitration. APP 0043-44. The Agreement 

begins by explaining in plain terms how arbitration works and details the process of how the 

Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") and the American Arbitration Association's ("AAA") National 

Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes ("AAA Employment Rules") will govern any 

arbitrations under the Agreement. APP 0043. 

The Agreement goes on to provide that: 

Hampden Coal or I agree that the party wishing to purse [sic J a claim must file 
that claim with the AAA within the same time period that they would have to file 
a lawsuit in court or one-year from the date of the event forming the basis of the 
lawsuit, whichever expires first. The parties waive any and all limitation periods 
to the contrary. 

APP 0043 (emphasis added). Notably, this one-year limitation period applies to all disputes 

under the Agreement: 

This Agreement between Hampden Coal and I to arbitrate all disputes or claims 
of any kind includes but is not limited to claims of unlawful discrimination, 
retaliation or harassment based upon race, national origin, ancestry, disability, 
religion, sex, age, workers' compensation claims or history, veteran's status, or 
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any other unlawful reason, and all other claims relating to employment or 
termination from employment. This shall include claims for wages or other 
compensation due, claims for each of any contract, tort claims or claims based on 
public policy. 

APP 0043 (emphasis added). 

The Agreement provides that Varney will pay no more or less toward the cost of 

arbitration than he would if he filed a lawsuit in the Circuit Court and that Hampden will pay all 

other costs of the arbitration. APP 0043-44. The Agreement further provides, in part: "By 

signing this Agreement, Hampden Coal and I are exchanging promises to arbitrate any disputes 

arising between us. Every individual who works for Hampden Coal must have signed and 

returned this Agreement to be eligible for employment[.]" APP 0044. The Agreement states that 

employment with Hampden, as well as the benefits and compensation provided by Hampden are 

consideration for the Agreement. APP 0044. 

At some point after signing the Agreement, Varney alleges that he was removed from a 

supervisory position due to being off work for illness. APP 0003. 1 Varney also alleges that, 

while working for Hampden on January 5, 2016, he suffered a workplace injury. APP 0003. 

B. Procedural History 

On June 21, 2016, Varney filed this civil action in the Circuit Court against Hampden and 

Oliver Hunt, alleging (l) wrongful demotion on the basis of disability in violation of the Human 

Rights Act; (2) retaliation (via termination) on the basis of disability in violation of the Human 

Rights Act; and (3) deliberate intent related to the workplace injury he sustained on January 5, 

I While the Complaint states and the Circuit Court's Order finds that Varney alleges that he was ultimately 
terminated from his employment for the same reason, Varney provided the Court with Plaintiffs Proposed Order 
Denying Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, or, in the Alternative, Compel Arbitration ("Plaintiffs Proposed Order"), 
in which he clarifies that he has asserted two Human Rights Act claims, but that both relate to the alleged demotion, 
not the termination. APP 0275. 
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2016. APP 0004-0008.2 On July 25, 2016, Hampden served its Motion to Dismiss, or, in the 

Alternative, Compel Arbitration (the "Motion"). APP 0098. The Motion was briefed and the 

Circuit Court heard oral argument on November 15, 2016. APP 0297. On December 29, 2016, 

the Circuit Court entered an Order denying Hampden's Motion on a number of grounds (the 

"Order"). APP 0297. It·IS from thOIS 0 rder t at h Hampd'en s appea 1 . IS pending. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The pnmary issues to be decided in this appeal are straightforward. Hampden and 

Varney entered into an arbitration agreement as a prerequisite to and condition of Varney's 

employment with Hampden that would govern any disputes that the two parties may have with 

each other. Both parties were equally bound to submit any disputes with the other to arbitration. 

Several moq.ths after Varney was hired by Hampden, he was demoted from a supervisory 

position to an hourly position, a demotion he believes was based on unlawful reasons in violation 

of the Human Rights Act. In addition, on January 5, 2016, Varney suffered a workplace injury 

while working for Hampden, an accident he believes occurred in violation of the Deliberate 

Intent Statute. Instead of filing for arbitration in accordance with the Agreement, however, he 

filed a civil action in the Circuit Court. Petitioners moved to dismiss the case or, in the 

alternative, compel arbitration, but the Circuit Court denied the Motion. 

In denying Petitioners' Motion, the Circuit Court erroneously found that the Agreement 

is an employment contract. The Agreement clearly states that it is an arbitration agreement and 

does not create an employment contract. Despite the fact that the Circuit Court found that the 

Agreement was not supported by consideration, it inexplicably also found that the Agreement 

2 Again, while the Complaint states and the Circuit Court's Order finds that Varney has asserted two 
violations ofthe Human Rights Act related to his alleged demotion and termination, Varney clarified in Plaintiff's 
Proposed Order that he has asserted two Human Rights Act claims, but that both relate to the alleged demotion. APP 
0275. 
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creates an employment contract. While that question was not before the Circuit Court, and is not 

relevant to whether Varney's clams should be arbitrated, the Circuit Court nonetheless made this 

erroneous finding and it should be overturned. 

In addition, the Circuit Court erroneously found that arbitration agreements are viewed 

differently within the employment context, as compared to the commercial context. This Court 

has never held that arbitration agreements are to be treated differently within the employment 

context and, in fact, the Circuit Court did not provide any support for its finding. As with the 

above-referenced issue, this issue is not dispositive of whether Varney's claims should be 

arbitrated, but the Circuit Court's finding should nevertheless be overturned. 

More important, the Circuit Court erroneously found that the Agreement was invalid and 

unenforceable because it lacked consideration. Contrary to the Circuit Court's conclusions, 

however, the Agreement had consideration through both Hampden and Varney's mutual 

promIses to arbitrate disputes. In addition, the Agreement was supported by additional 

consideration through Hampden's offer of employment, as well as the benefits and compensation 

paid to Varney, in exchange for his promise to arbitrate. 

Finally, the Circuit Court ignored clear precedent by this Court and the Fourth Circuit 

Court of Appeals in finding that the Agreement was both substantively and procedurally 

unconscionable, thereby holding it unenforceable. In fact, the arbitration provision and 

Agreement are in-line with West Virginia jurisprudence that has specifically enforced arbitration 

agreements-particularly in the setting of employment-related claims. The arbitration provisions 

within the Agreement are bilateral, thus binding both Varney and Hampden to the same terms 

and conditions. Varney and Hampden both were required to submit disputes to AAA pursuant to 

the AAA Employment Rules and both had the same limitation periods from the action giving rise 
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to the dispute to submit a claim. Lastly, there was no unfairness or inequitableness in the 

bargaining or agreement process as the Agreement was short, written in plain English, advised 

Varney that he was waiving his right to pursue disputes in the courts, and encouraged Varney to 

seek legal counsel and advice if he had any questions or did not understand the provisions of the 

Agreement. 

There is no evidence that the Agreement is unenforceable or unconscionable. To the 

contrary, the Agreement is in accordance with West Virginia statutory and common law 

requirements. The Federal Arbitration Act and the Agreement demands that the Circuit Court 

should have compelled arbitration and the Circuit Court's conclusions are in error. This Court 

should reverse the Circuit Court and remand with instructions that the civil action be dismissed 

and the parties pursue their claims in arbitration. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioners submit that oral argument is unnecessary in this case. The appeal presents no 

novel questions of West Virginia law, or unique factual or procedural issues. The dispositive 

issues in this case have previously been authoritatively decided by this Court, and the Circuit 

Court's Order simply misapplies previous decisions by this Court to undisputed facts. The facts 

and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, and the 

decisional process will not be significantly aided by oral argument A memorandum decision 

reversing the Circuit Court's decision is appropriate under Rule 21 of the Revised Rules of 

Appellate Procedure. 
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V. ARGUMENT 


A. Jurisdiction 

Pursuant to Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front, "an order denying a motion to compel 

arbitration is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the collateral 

order doctrine." Syl. Pt. 1, 231 W. Va. 518, 745 S.E.2d 556 (2013). Petitioners appeal the 

December 29, 2016 Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, or, in the Alternative, 

Compel Arbitration from the Circuit Court of Mingo County, West Virginia and an immediate 

appeal of this Order is proper. 

B. Standard of Review. 

On appeal to this Court, "'review of whether [an] [arbitration] [a]greement represents a 

valid and enforceable contract is de novo.'" Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp., 228 W. Va. 

646, n.12, 724 S.E.2d 250, 267 n.12 (2011), vacated sub nom. Marmet Health Care Ctr., Inc. v. 

Brown, 565 U.S. 530, 132 S. Ct. 1201 (2012) ("Brown I") (quoting State ex rei. Saylor v. Wilkes, 

216 W. Va. 766, 772, 613 S.E.2d 914, 920 (2005)). Likewise, "[i]nterpreting a statute [ ...] 

presents a purely legal question subject to de novo review." Syl. Pt. 1, Fountain Place Cinema 8, 

LLC v. Morris, 227 W. Va. 249, 707 S.E.2d 859 (2011); Syl. Pt. 4, Burgess v. Porterfield, 196 

W. Va. 178, 469 S.E.2d 114 (1996). "Generally, findings of fact are reviewed for clear error [ .. 

. ] ." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, State ex rei. Cooper v. Caperton, 196 W. Va. 208, 210, 470 S.E.2d 162, 

164 (1996). "However, ostensible findings of fact, which entail the application of law or 

constitute legal judgments which transcend ordinary factual determinations, must be reviewed de 

novo." Id. 

The issues to be decided in this appeal concern legal questions of statutory construction 

and contract interpretation. There is no dispute concerning the background facts relevant to the 
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appeal of these particular issues. Accordingly, this Court reviews the legal conclusions of the 

Circuit Court de novo, and the Circuit Court's final order and ultimate disposition under an abuse 

of discretion standard. 

C. 	 The Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1, et seq., mandates that this dispute 
was to be compelled to arbitration for resolution. 

Where a dispute that is referable to arbitration pursuant to a written agreement IS 

improperly filed in state or federal court, the FAA mandates that "upon being satisfied that the 

making of the agreement for arbitration or the failure to comply therewith is not an issue, the 

court shall make an order directing the parties to proceed to arbitration in accordance with the 

terms of the agreement." 9 U.S.C. § 4. Similarly, in such circumstances, the FAA requires that 

the court "shall on application of one of the parties stay the trial of the action until such 

arbitration has been had in accordance with the terms of the agreement." 9 U.S.C. § 3. 

The FAA reflects a strong and "liberal" public policy in favor of the strict enforcement of 

arbitration agreements by the terms set forth in such agreements. See AT&T Mobility LLC v. 

Concepcion, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011). In fact, this Court has recently reiterated the strong 

public policy under both federal and state law recognizing the benefits of arbitration as a forum 

of dispute resolution. See Parsons v. Halliburton Energy Servs., 237 W. Va. 138, 146, 785 

S.E.2d 844, 852 (W. Va. Apr. 11,2016) (citing Moses H Cone Mem'! Hasp. v. Mercury Canst. 

Corp., 460 U.S. 1,24-25 (1983) ([The FAA], "is a congressional declaration ofa liberal federal 

policy favoring arbitration agreements, notwithstanding any state substantive or procedural 

policies to the contrary."); W. Va. Code § 55-10-2 (acknowledging "a well-established federal 

policy in favor of arbitral dispute resolution" because arbitration "offers in many instances a 

more efficient and cost-effective alternative to court litigation.")). "Arbitration is also favored 

because it unburdens crowded court dockets." Id. 
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Under the FAA, agreements to arbitrate are "valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save 

upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." 9 U.S.C. § 2. 

A party's ability to challenge a valid arbitration agreement is extremely limited; only 

"[g]enerally applicable contract defenses, such as fraud, duress, or unconscionability, may be 

applied to invalidate arbitration agreements without contravening § 2 of the FAA." Strawn v. 

AT&T Mobility, Inc., 593 F. Supp. 2d 894, 898, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3706, at *9 (S.D. W. Va. 

2009) (quoting Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto, 517 U.S. 681 (1996»; see also Concepcion, 

563 U.S. at 343 ("Although § 2's savings clause preserves generally applicable contract 

defenses, nothing in it suggests an intent to preserve state-law rules that stand as an obstacle to 

the accomplishment of the FAA's objectives."). 

Indeed, the "principal purpose" of the FAA is "to ensure that private arbitration 

agreements are enforced according to their terms." Concepcion, 563 U.S. at 347 n. 6; see also 

Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. AnimalFeeds Int'l Corp., 559 U.S. 662, 682 (2010). The FAA's directive to 

federal and state courts "is mandatory" and, therefore, courts have "no choice but to grant a 

motion to compel arbitration where a valid arbitration agreement exists and the issues in a case 

fall within its purview." Adkins v. Labor Ready, Inc., 303 F. 3d 496, 500 (4th Cir. 2002); 

Hightower v. GMRI, Inc., 272 F. 3d 239,241 (4th Cir. 2001). The United States District Court 

for the Southern District has stated simply that "[a]fter the court decides that a particular dispute 

is covered by an arbitration clause, the court may not proceed to consider the merits of the case 

and must immediately send the case to arbitration." Twin Head Recovery v. JHJ, 2010 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 86037 at *8 (S.D. W. Va. Aug. 20,2010). 

Pursuant to "the federal policy favoring arbitration," "any doubts concerning the scope of 

arbitrable issues" are resolved "in favor of arbitration." Hill v. Peoplesoft USA, Inc., 412 F.3d 
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540, 543 (4th Cir. 2005) (emphasis added); see also State ex ref. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC v. 

Webster, 232 W. Va. 341,360,752 S.E.2d 372,391 (2013) ("consistent with [the FAA], courts 

must rigorously enforce arbitration agreements according to their terms") (citing Am. Express 

Co. v. Italian Colors Rest., _ U.S. _,133 S. Ct. 2304, 2307, 186 L. Ed. 2d 417,422 (2013)). 

To determine whether claims should be sent to arbitration, the Fourth Circuit Court of 

Appeals has established a four-part test by which courts should evaluate motions to compel 

arbitration. Under the test, the moving party must demonstrate: 

(1) the existence of a dispute between the parties, (2) a written agreement that 
includes an arbitration provision which purports to cover the dispute, (3) the 
relationship of the transaction, which is evidenced by the agreement, to interstate 
or foreign commerce, and (4) the failure, neglect or refusal of the [non-moving 
party] to arbitrate the dispute. 

Adkins, 303 F.3d at 500-501. See also Syl. pt. 6, Brown I, 724 S.E.2d at 260. 

In the case sub judice, the parties do not dispute that all of the elements are met under the 

Adkins test, except as to element two as to whether the Agreement is enforceable and whether it 

purports to cover the dispute. While the primary issues on appeal surround element two, the 

remaining elements have undisputedly been met by Petitioners. 

First, it is self-evident that a dispute exists between Varney and Petitioners. The filing of 

a civil action is sufficient evidence of a dispute. See Canyon Sudar Partners, LLC v. Cole ex reI. 

Haynie, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 34043, *37 (S.D. W. Va. Mar. 29, 2011); Captain D's, LLC v. 

McClenathan, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 85798, *15-16 (S.D. W. Va. Aug. 1,2005) ("[Defendant] 

has shown there is a dispute with [Plaintiff], as evidenced by [Plaintiffs] filing of a complaint in 

the West Virginia state circuit court[.]"). Here, Varney filed a Complaint alleging a violations of 

the Human Rights Act and the Deliberate Intent Statute. Accordingly, a dispute exists between 

the parties. 
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Next, the transactions underlying Varney's claims relate to interstate commerce, as those 

transactions occurred between Varney and Hampden. If a transaction occurs between citizens of 

different states, it relates to interstate commerce. See Cochran v. Coffman, 2010 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 7248, at *8 (S.D. W. Va. Jan. 28, 2010) ("the parties are of diverse citizenship, and thus 

their business relationships cross interstate lines"); Van Lehn v. MedaStat USA, L.L.C, 2005 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 48928, at *5-6 (S.D. W. Va. Aug. 1,2005) (noting that the subject "transaction 

bears a relationship to interstate commerce because it was entered into between a citizen of West 

Virginia and a business incorporated in Kentucky"). Here, the transactions involved Varney, a 

citizen of West Virginia, working in a West Virginia Hampden location. Hampden is a limited 

liability company formed under the laws of the State of Delaware. APP 0001. Accordingly, the 

transactions relate to interstate commerce. 

Lastly, Varney failed to submit his claims to arbitration. Failure or refusal to arbitrate 

may be inferred from Varney's decision to file a civil action rather than an arbitration demand. 

See Captain D's, LLC, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 85798, at *16; Van Lehn, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

48928, at *6. Here, Varney filed his Complaint without taking any steps to arbitrate his claims. 

Accordingly, Varney failed to submit his claims to arbitration. 

Assuming that the Agreement is valid and enforceable, then all of the additional elements 

to compel arbitration under Adkins are satisfied and referral of the dispute to arbitration is 

required. As set forth in greater detail below, the Agreement is valid, enforceable, covers the 

dispute at issue, and the terms are not unconscionable. Thus, enforcement of the Agreement 

demands arbitration of this dispute. 
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D. The Agreement is a valid, enforceable contract supported by consideration. 

Under the FAA, whether a valid arbitration agreement exists between the parties is 

determined by the applicable state contract law which, in this case, is West Virginia law. See 

Adkins, 303 F.3d at 501; see also State ex reI. Johnson Controls, Inc. v. Tucker, 229 W. Va., 486

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