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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

When a trial court is required to rule upon a motion to compel arbitration pursuant to the 

Federal Arbitration Act, the authority ofthe trial court is limited to determining the threshold issues 

of (1) whether a valid arbitration agreement exists between the parties; and (2) whether the claims 

averred by the plaintiff fall within the substantive scope of that arbitration agreement. Kirby v. 

Lion Enterprises, Inc., 233 W.Va. 159 (2014). In the instant matter, Respondent asserts the 

Agreement is not valid, but if the Court detennines the Agreement is valid, Respondent's claims 

are not within the substantive scope of the Agreement. 

An arbitration agreement, by its very nature, is a contract. Most of the recent arbitration 

litigation has revolved arounds whether such contract is enforceable or unconscionable, and thus, 

unenforceable. However, in this appeal the circuit court found that the Agreement was not 

enforceable for reasons other than conscionability. Before a conscionability analysis can be 

undertaken regarding a contract, it must be established that a contract indeed exists. Here, the 

Respondent does not believe a valid agreement exist; however, to the extent there is an Agreement, 

the Respondent agrees with the circuit court that an employment contract was created. 

Employment agreements have long been analyzed differently that commercial agreements. 

The Respondent maintains any employment contract formed, for multiple reasons, is both 

substantively and procedurally unconscionable, and thus, unenforceable. From a substantive 

standpoint, the Agreement substantially shortens the Respondent's time-period in which he can 

bring his claims forward, and further, puts unduly burdensome restrictions on his ability to 
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participate in meaningful discovery. Under the Agreement, claims which were timely brought 

forth under West Virginia's statute of limitations, would be barred tIDder the Agreement. In 

addition, Petitioners, via addendum and without notice, unilaterally modified the consideration for 

its original Agreement, a practice that has long been held as substantially unconscionable in West 

Virginia. 

The Agreement is also procedurally tIDconscionable. At the time Respondent was required 

to enter into the Agreement, his company had just been purchased by Petitioner Hampden. Similar 

to herding cattle, all employees were summonsed to meeting place, handed multiple documents, 

not permitted to leave the meeting spot, and told to sign each paper should they wish to remain 

employed with Hampden. There was no meaningful opportunity to review the material, much less 

seek counsel as the Agreement contends. As noted by the circuit court, the Agreement's 

instruction to seek legal advice was "disingenuous" at best. See APP 0302. Not only did the 

Respondent not possess in meaningful bargaining power in negotiating any term ofthe Agreement, 

the Agreement was drafted by the Petitioner Hamdpen in a manner that all key elements are one

side and construed in its favor. For example, should the Respondent have any issue related to his 

employment, the Agreement maintains those issues must be arbitrated. However, the Petitioners 

maintain the power to simply discard the Respondent "at will" should it perceive issues with his 

employment, and thus, is not required to follow the same process it implores on Respondent. More 

simply put, the Agreement was clearly "take it is or leave it," and the ultimate contract ofadhesion. 

The claims Respondent brought forth in his Complaint under the West Virginia Human 

Rights Act are derived and controlled by administrative law set forth by the state ofWest Virginia 

in the Human Rights Act. The Agreement itself seems to exclude causes of actions controlled by 

administrative law, and more particularly, agency employment causes ofaction such as the NLRB 
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or EEOC. Further, the West Virginia law finds that an individual may not waive any right or claim 

under the West Virginia Human Rights Act unless the waiver is knowing and voluntary. Here, 

any waiver of those rights by Respondent was not knowing or voluntary. 

Lastly, Respondent's deliberate intent claim is excluded from the Agreement. Arbitration 

is a matter of contract, and a party cannot be required to arbitrate a dispute that it has not agreed 

to arbitrate. The West Virginia Workers' Compensation Act provides numerous benefits for 

employees who are injured during the course and scope of their work; furthennore, not all ofthose 

benefits are monetary in nature. More specifically, the legislature placed the deliberate intent cause 

of action under the "Death and Disability Benefits" section of the Workers' Compensation Act 

further indicating that the legislature intended for deliberate intent to be a benefit of that Act. 

Employer's enjoy the benefit of a no-fault system in which it cannot be sued in negligence for a 

work place injury, so long as it properly subscribed to the Workers' Compensation Fund. 

However, one benefit the employee enjoys under the Workers' Compensation Act is the ability to 

file a deliberate intent clainl of action if he believes certain elements are present and can be met. 

The Agreement specifically holds the right to file a claim for workers' compensation 

benefits is excluded, and therefore, those claims are not subject to arbitration. Should Hampden 

wished to limit what workers' compensation benefits it sought to exclude, it could have narrowed 

that definition in this one-sided Agreement. It chose not to; therefore, as the drafter, any ambiguity 

in the Agreement must be strictly construed against Hampden. 

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Respondent believes that oral argument in unnecessary pursuant to West Virginia Rules of 

Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), because the facts and arguments are adequately presented 
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in the briefs and record on appeal. The decisional making process will not be significantly aided 

by oral argument, and the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided. Ifthe Court deems 

oral argument necessary, Respondent has no preference between Rule 19 and Rule 20. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Jurisdiction 

An order denying a motion to compel arbitration is an interlocutory ruling which is subject 

to immediate appeal under the collateral order doctrine. Syl. pt. 1, Credit Acceptance Corp. v. 

Front, 231 W. Va. 518, 745 S.E.2d 556 (2013). Petitioners have appealed the lower court's 

December 29, 2016, Order in which arbitration was denied, thus, such ruling is subject to 

immediate appeal in this Court. 

B. Standard of Review 

The main issues to be decided on appeal are the interpretations of both statutes and 

contracts. When an appeal from an order denying a motion to dismiss and to compel arbitration is 

properly before this Court, our review is de novo. West Virginia CVS Pharmacy, LLC v. McDowell 

Pharmacy, Inc., 796 S.E.2d 574 (2017). "Interpreting a statute or an administrative rule or 

regulation presents a purely legal question subject to de novo review." Syllabus Point 1, 

Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dept. of West Virginia, 195 W.Va. 573, 466 S.E.2d 424 

(1995). 

C. Employment arbitration agreements are viewed in a different context than 
arbitration agreements in a commercial setting. (Assignment of Error 1). 

The circuit court did not err in finding that employment arbitration agreements are viewed 

differently than compared to those in a commercial setting. APP 0299. Although the Petitioner 

asserts there is no legal authority to rely upon for this ruling, that is not true. Regarding the 

7 




enforceability ofan arbitration agreement, this Court has previously held that there is a distinction 

between those agreements seeking to be enforced in an employment or commercial setting. More 

specifically, this Court analyzed conscionability in an arbitration agreement [discussed more 

thoroughly below] regarding employment contracts and held: 

... [i]nadequacies that results in the lack of a real and voluntary 
meeting of the minds of the parties, considering all the 
circumstances surrounding the transaction. These inadequacies 
include, but are not limited to, the age, literacy, or lack of 
sophistication of a party; hidden or unduly complex contract terms; 
the adhesive nature of the contract; and the manner and setting in 
which the contract was formed, including whether each party had a 
reasonable opportunity to lmderstand the terms of the contract. 
Considering factors such as these, courts are more likely to find 
unconscionability in consumer transactions and employment 
agreements than in contracts arising in purely commercial settings 
involving experienced parties. 

Brown v. Genesis Healthcare II, 729 S.E.2d 217, 227 (2012), citing Brown v. Genesis Healthcare 

I, at 724 S.E.2d 250, 285 (emphasis added); (See also, State ex. Rei Saylor v. Wilkes holding that 

the proposed arbitration agreement pertaining the employee's employment was not valid because 

employee possessed a tenth grade education, the arbitration company fashioned the agreement to 

meet its needs and the needs of employer, employee was not apprised of the relationship between 

company and employer, the terms of the agreement were not negotiable and weighed in favor of 

company and employer, and company retained the right to unilaterally modify arbitration rules 

without input or notice to employee.) 

It is clear by the Court's previous rulings that it does consider arbitration agreements in the 

employment context much differently than those in a commercial setting. In employment settings, 

the Court has routinely looked past a mere "agreement" to arbitrate and has delved into multiple 

factors, as outlined above, when considering the enforceability of an arbitration agreement 

regarding employment related issues. In the instant matter, Respondent, a father oftwo daughters, 
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is a thirty-eight (38) year old coal miner who had worked at the same facility for various operators 

for nearly sixteen (16) years. Respondent possesses no formal education outside of high school, 

and further, was presented a contract of adhesion to sign if he wished to remain employed in an 

industry at which time was experiencing great volatility. APPOl18. 

Given this precedent, this Court should consider factors regarding conscionability as 

discussed below and determine the "Agreement" Petitioners seeks to enforce is viewed differently 

than arbitration agreements between commercial enterprises, and further, it is not enforceable. 

D. The Respondent does not believe a valid contract exist between the parties; 
however, to the extent this Court fmds a valid contract exist, the circuit court did not 
err in labeling it an employment contract. (Assignment of Error 2). 

i. Respondent does not believe a valid agreement exist between the parties. 

The West Virginia Supreme Court has repeatedly held the arbitration agreements are not 

to be treated differently than any other contract. Syllabus Point 7 ofBrown v. Genesis Healthcare 

Corp., 228 W.Va. 646, 724 S.E.2d 250 (2011) holds that: 

The purpose of the Federal Arbitration Act. . .is for courts to treat 
Arbitration Agreements like any other contract. The Act does not 
favor or elevate Arbitration Agreements to a level of importance 
above all other contracts; it simple ensures that private agreements 
to arbitrate are enforced according to their terms. 

The second to last paragraph of the Agreement states that it is not an agreement. "Not an 

Employment Agreement: This Agreement is not, and shall not be construed to create a contract of 

employment, expressed or implied, and shall not alter my at-will employment status." APP 0044. 

Thus, despite the fact that the alleged agreement claims not to be an agreement, the Petitioners 

would urge this Court to ignore the plain language contained in the alleged agreement and rule that 

it is a binding agreement. 
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Instead, the Petitioners state that the document does not create a contract or employment 

agreement. The Respondent agrees. Without a proper contract between the parties, a valid 

arbitration agreement cannot be sustained. 

For the Petitioners to argue the statement "this Agreement is not, and shall not be construed 

to create a contract of employment, express or implied" really does not create an enforceable 

contract, at best, creates ambiguity which must be interpreted in favor of the Respondent. 

"Contract language is considered ambiguous where an agreement's terms are inconsistent on their 

face or where the phraseology can support reasonable differences of opinion as to the meaning of 

the words employed and obligations under taken." Syllabus Point 3, Lee v. Lee, 228 W.Va. 483, 

484, 721 S.E.2d 53 (W.Va. 2011). 

As the West Virginia Supreme Court stated in Lee, [1]n cases ofdoubt, the construction of 

a written instrument is to be taken strongly against the party preparing it. Henson v. Lamb, 120 

W.Va. 552, 558, 199 S.E.-2d 459,461-62 (1938). In other words, the ambiguous terms should be 

". 
construed in such a manner as to effectuate the intentions of the parties, but where the evidence 

pertaining to the parties' intent conflicts, the anlbiguous terms should be construed against the 

party who drafted the document. See Syl. Pt. 4, National Mut. Ins. Co. v. McMahon & Sons, Inc., 

177 W.Va. 734, 356 S.E.2d 488 (1987), overruled on other grounds by Potesta v, U.S. Fidelity & 

Guaranty Co., 202 W. Va. 308, 504 S.E.2d 135 (1998)(holding that ambiguous terms in insurance 

contracts are strictly construed against the insurance company and in favor ofthe insured); Syl. Pt. 

3, West Virginia Dept. a/Highways v. Farmer, 159 W.Va. 823,226 S.E.2d 717 (1976) (holding 

that where an ambiguity exists in a deed, the language ofsuch deed will be construed most strongly 

against the grantor). 
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The document clearly states that it is not a contract, and as such, that should be the end of 

the Petitioners' assertion. However, if the Petitioners insist that it is simply a confusing or 

ambiguous paragraph, then that paragraph should be interpreted against the Petitioners and no 

enforceable contract should be found. 

ii. 	 If a contract exists, it is an employment contract which is viewed differently 
than commercial arbitration agreements. 

Employers and employees sometimes enter into written employment agreements which 

dictate the terms and conditions of employment. A written employment agreement may take the 

form of an individual employment contract or a contract governing a group of employees. The 

Agreement presented to the Respondent certainly dictated the terms and conditions of his 

employment. 

The Petitioners assert the Agreement is not a contract of employment. However, an 

agreement entered into by two parties promising "continued employment" is certainly an 

employment agreement. Further, Petitioners assert that it was only making clear Respondent's 

status as an at-will employment had not changed, while promising continued employment. If so, 

the Petitioners should have simply stated the Agreement does not alter the at-will nature of 

Respondent's employment as it meticulously dictated each term of the Agreement. 

E. Neither the original agreement nor the addendum are supported by valid 
consideration, and further, Respondent was not provided notice prior to changing the 
terms of the agreement. (Assignment of Error 3). 

i. The original agreement. 

To be valid, an arbitration agreement must have ... valuable consideration. State ex reI. U-

Haul Co. ofWest Virginia v. Zakaib, 752 S.E.2d 586,594 (W. Va. 2013). Consideration has always 

been a key component in the establishment of any contract. The West Virginia Supreme Court 
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holds that "consideration is ...an essential element of any contract. Consideration has been defined 

as 'some right, interest, profit, or benefit accruing to one party, or forbearance, detriment, loss, or 

responsibility given, suffered, or undertaken by another." 17 Am. Jur. 2d, Contracts, Section 85. 

A benefit to the promisor or a detriment to the promisee is sufficient consideration to form a 

contract. 17 Am. Jur. 2d, Contracts, Section 96; State ex rei. Saylorv. Wilkes, 216 W.Va. 766, 775, 

613 S.E.2d 914, 923 (2005) citing Cookv. Heck's Inc., 176 W.Va. 368, 373, 342 S.E.2d 453, 458

59 (1986). Valuable consideration may consist either in some right, interest, profit, or benefit 

accruing to the one party or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility given, suffered, or 

undertaken by the other." Syl. Pt. 1, Tablerv. Hoult, 110 W.Va. 542,158 S.E. 782 (1931). 

In the original Agreement presented by Petitioner Hampden to the Respondent, the 

consideration for the Agreement is defined as "employment and continued employment" with 

Blue Diamond. APP0044. (emphasis added). The main issue with this consideration is that 

Respondent was not, nor has he ever, been employed by Blue Diamond. Because this was the 

stated element of consideration with the original Agreement, a contract could not have formed 

between the parties; thus, there was never a valid Agreement between the parties as employment 

was promised with an entity that was not a party to the Agreement.

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